2004

# Linda Malan Hilton v. Utah State Retirement Board, Long Term Disability Program : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction under UCA § 63-46b-16 & 17, URAP Rule 14 and URAP Rule 4.

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES & STANDARD OF REVIEW**

### **FIRST ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Issue. Did the Hearing Officer (HO) Err by Concluding That There Was No Objective Evidence of Petitioner's Disability, by Requiring an "Impairment Rating" and by Applying the Utah Worker's Compensation Guidelines?

Standard of Review. The Court of Appeals should review this issue under a de novo standard of review. See *Morton v. State Tax Comm.*, 814 P.2d 581, 588-89 (Utah 1991)

Citation to Record of Issue Preservation. Hearing Record (HR) 59:5-11, 69:9-21, 70:4-8, 71:2-9, 102:4-12, 233-241, 335, 339-347, 348-349, 358-359, 362-363.

### **SECOND ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Issue. To Prove the Severity of Petitioner's Disability Did the Hearing Officer Err by Requiring Objective Evidence at the Exclusion of Subjective Evidence?

Standard of Review. The Court of Appeals should review this issue under a de novo standard of review. See *Morton, supra*.

Citation to Record of Issue Preservation. HR 233-241, 335, 349-358.

### **THIRD ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Issue. Did the HO Err by Failing to Find Petitioner Disabled By Considering the Combined Effect of Petitioner's Impairments and by Failing to Take into Consideration Petitioner's SSA Determination?

Standard of Review. The Court of Appeals should review this issue under a De Novo standard of review. See *Morton, supra*.

Citation to Record of Issue Preservation. HR 337; Hearing Transcript (HT) 250:2-25, 251:1-16, 252:1-15, 265:6-16, 292:13-20, 293:14-25, 294, 295:1-2, 297:21-25, 298:1-6, 299:1-25, 303:5-25.

#### **FOURTH ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Issue. Did the HO Err by Finding Dr. Knorpp's Testimony to Be Credible and Persuasive?

Standard of Review. The Court of Appeals should review this issue under an intermediate abuse of discretion standard of review. See *Morton, supra*.

Citation to Record of Issue Preservation. HR 105:3-25, 106:1, 241-257, 347-348, 359-362.

#### **FIFTH ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Issue. Did the HO Err by Failing to Draft Detailed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and the Final Order?

Standard of Review. The Court of Appeals should review this issue under an intermediate abuse of discretion standard of review. See *Morton, supra*.

Citation to Record of Issue Preservation. HR 336, 378-380.

#### **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES**

UCA 1953 Title 49-21-102 and the PEHP Pamphlet definition are of central importance to this case. UCA 1953 Title 49-21-102 indicates:

(6) “Objective medical impairment” means an impairment resulting from an . . . illness which is diagnosed by a physician and which is **based on accepted objective medical tests or findings** rather than subjective complaints.

This definition is exemplified in the PEHP’s definition of a medically determinable impairment.

*Medically determinable impairment* is defined as an impairment that results from anatomical, physiological, or psychological abnormalities **which can be shown by medically acceptable clinical and laboratory diagnostic techniques**. A physical or mental impairment **must be established by medical evidence consisting of signs, symptoms, and laboratory findings, not only by the individual’s statement of symptoms**.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Petitioner seeks long-term disability benefits from the Public Employee’s Health Plan or “PEHP”. PEHP denied these benefits because the Appellee alleges Petitioner has not produced objective evidence that she has an impairment rating or is completely disabled. She appeals this denial of benefits.

### **SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW**

On May 6 and June 1, 2004, the Hearing Officer (HO), James Baker, heard Petitioner’s Request for Board Action on her claim for disability benefits. The HO, at the conclusion thereof, requested written closing arguments.

Based upon the issues raised by Appellee (HR 298-325) and, pursuant to Utah law and the PEHP policy, Petitioner asked in her closing arguments (HR 231-257, 329-373), among other issues, that the HO determine: (1) Whether there were objective clinical and laboratory diagnostic techniques, tests, findings and signs for Petitioner’s impairments, (2) Whether an “impairment rating” [v. impairment] is necessary to establish disability,

(3) Whether the severity of the disability must be established through objective medical evidence, (4) Whether the combined effect of Petitioner's medical impairments had been properly considered [including her severe sleep apnea and lumbar degenerative disc disease (DDD)], and (5) Whether the Utah 2002 [Worker's] Compensation Guides (the Guides), or any other guidelines were applicable to PEHP determinations.

After receiving the parties' closing arguments, the HO did not address Petitioner's specific requests but determined that, "The evidence presented by Petitioner consisted of her '**subjective complaints,' together with hearsay evidence** on the fact in dispute." He also ruled that, "**No admissible evidence was presented by Petitioner** on an impairment resulting from an injury or illness which was diagnosed by a physician based on accepted medical tests or findings." He further found that, "The evidence presented by Dr. Knorpp is credible and accepted." Denying her benefits, he requested that, "Counsel for the Respondent shall prepare an Order consistent with this decision." HR 374-375.

Upon receiving Appellee's prepared Order, the Petitioner, citing *Foreman V. Foreman*, 176 P.2d 144 (Utah 1946) objected stating:

The proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order bear no relation to the "reasons the [HO] recited" in his decision and [the Decision] is therefore "not consistent with [the proposed] findings of fact, conclusions of law and order. This has the tendency to "cast doubt upon the foundation for those determinations." . . .

.. . . . Petitioner would urge [the HO] . . . to . . . make specific rulings as requested by Petitioner so that the issues have been properly ruled upon and so that Respondent's counsel does not appear to be the actual decision maker in this case...

"It is a simple matter to recite or write sufficient facts to support a decision once the decision is made, but the [HO's] process of determination to be a proper exercise of judgment for founding a question upon the merits should show an attempt to decide the issues of the case as presented, and should not be founded upon extraneous matters. " . . . This . . . will provide proper guidance in future cases and clarify the issues on appeal. HR 378-380.

Disregarding Petitioner's objection, the HO adopted Appellee's final Order

without revision. It contained some of the following statements:

Findings of Fact . . .

....

6. Both Petitioner and Dr. Beales testified that the worst conditions Petitioner suffers from are pain and fatigue. Dr. Beales testified, "There's no good objective measurement of pain, of fatigue. . ." Dr. Beales testified that he relied on Petitioner's self-reported symptoms in forming his opinion regarding Petitioner's disability. . . .

7. Dr. Beales . . . was not familiar with either the . . . AMA Guidelines or the Utah impairment Guidelines. . . . Dr. Beales did not provide any other guidelines or standards that could be used in making his determination on Petitioner's disability.

8. Dr. Beales failed to provide Petitioner with an impairment rating . . . Impairment ratings are the standard used in the medical community to determined disability.

9. Dr. Knorpp is board certified in physical medicine and rehabilitation. Dr. Knorpp is proficient with the AMA Guidelines and the Utah Impairment Guidelines . . . [B]ased upon these guidelines as well as the disability standard defined in Title 49 of the Utah Code, [Dr. Knorpp] could not find anything that could objectively show that Petitioner would qualify for an impairment that would lead to a disability.

....

Conclusions of Law . . .

....

9. Petitioner **failed to present any non-hearsay evidence** proving she suffered from and "objective impairment resulting from injury or illness based on accepted medical tests or findings." Although Petitioner provided evidence of diagnoses, Petitioner **failed to provide any evidence showing** that she was objectively impaired due and to these conditions."

....

11. Although it is not mandatory that a Petitioner use the AMA Guidelines and/or the Utah impairment Guidelines to prove impairment, a Petitioner must prove "objective medical impairment" through "accepted objective medical tests or findings." Since the AMA Guidelines and the Utah impairment Guidelines are the standards currently used by the medical community to determine impairment, these are reasonable guidelines to be used to determine the level of impairment.

12. **No evidence was presented** by Petitioner to indicate that she qualifies for an objective impairment rating pursuant to the AMA Guidelines, the Utah impairment Guidelines, or any other accepted objective criteria. . . HR 381-387.

This Order denied Petitioner's request for disability benefits. This appeal followed.

### **SUMMARY OF FACTS**

1. In October 2002, Petitioner, at age 55, after 25 years of employment as a Health Program Specialist left work due to disability. She was impaired by severe sleep apnea, Fibromyalgia Syndrome (FMS), Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (CFS), hypertension, heart valve disease, neuropathy and degenerative disc disease. These illnesses caused fatigue, chronic pain in her back, legs, neck, joints, sleepiness and memory loss. HR 8-16.

2. Petitioner's job was "sedentary." It required extensive expertise in State health-care programs, State and Federal laws, policies, rules and procedures, compiling, and analyzing and summarizing information regarding health services. It further required expertise in data entry, working with computer systems and the ability to deal with the public. It also required regular attendance and punctuality. HR 19-20.

3. On August 26, 2003 Petitioner requested Board Action on her request for Long Term Disability benefits. HR 6.