2004

Linda Malan Hilton v. Utah State Retirement Board, Long Term Disability Program : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The Board reasonably denied Petitioner long-term disability benefits under U.C.A. Title 49, because Petitioner failed to prove that she suffered from any “objective medical impairment” which would prevent her from performing her regular occupation as a sedentary worker. An “objective medical impairment” must be proven through “accepted medical tests or findings” under U.C.A. § 49-21-102(6).

The Board reasonably found that the accepted medical standards in the community for determining an impairment are the AMA and Utah Impairment Guidelines. These impairment guidelines assign no impairment rating to Petitioner’s diagnoses of fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome. In addition, Petitioner failed to prove any objective medical impairment under these guidelines for her other diagnoses. Thus, because Petitioner failed to prove any “objective medical impairment” using “accepted medical tests or findings” the Board reasonably denied her long-term disability benefits.
2. The Board received substantial evidence that Dr. Knorpp’s testimony was credible and persuasive. Dr. Knorpp is an expert in physical medicine and rehabilitation. At the request of the Board’s Long-Term Disability Program, Dr. Knorpp conducted an independent medical examination of Petitioner. These types of examinations are specifically contemplated in U.C.A. § 49-21-401(8), and are the standard in the disability insurance industry to assist a trier of fact in determining

alleged impairment and disability.

In this case, Dr. Knorpp's examination consisted of a thorough review of the provided medical records, an interview with Petitioner regarding her medical history and subjective complaints, and a complete physical examination. Dr. Knorpp's examination report opined that Petitioner did not suffer from any objective medical impairment, and she did not qualify for disability. Thus, because the Board received substantial evidence that Dr. Knorpp's opinion was credible and persuasive, the Board committed no error in reliance on Dr. Knorpp's testimony.

3. The Board properly admitted and considered all of Petitioner's evidence in finding Petitioner failed to meet the statutory standard for "total disability" under U.C.A. § 49-21-102(11)(a). Petitioner points to nothing in the record which suggests that the Board or its Hearing Officer failed to admit or consider all of her evidence and arguments. That the Hearing Officer did not find Petitioner's evidence persuasive does not mean that he failed to consider her evidence or arguments.
4. The Board's Order was consistent with the Hearing Officer's Decision. In his Decision, the Hearing Officer clearly ruled on the ultimate issue, whether Petitioner was entitled to long-term disability benefits. Also in his Decision, the Hearing Officer requested that the Board's Counsel to prepare an Order consistent with the Decision. After the proposed Order was prepared, Petitioner took the opportunity to object to the proposed Order in writing. Thus, Petitioner was

provided a valid opportunity to complain that the Hearing Officer's Decision was inconsistent with his Order, prior to the Order's adoption by the Board. Since the Hearing Officer and the Board adopted the Order without changes, one must assume, without evidence to the contrary, that the Order complied with the Hearing Officer's reasoning.

In addition, Petitioner cannot point to one specific instance where the Hearing Officer's Decision was inconsistent with the Board's Order. Inconsistencies are more than merely word additions, they must include fundamentally different facts or legal reasoning as the basis for the Decision. Again, because the Hearing Officer adopted the proposed Order after considering the Petitioner's objections, the presumption is that the Order was consistent with the Decision.

ARGUMENT

I. PETITIONER FAILED TO PROVE THAT SHE MEETS THE STATUTORY STANDARD FOR RECEIVING LONG-TERM DISABILITY BENEFITS UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. §49-21-102(11)(A).

Petitioner did not prove that she meets the statutory standard for receiving long-term disability benefits under Utah Code Ann. §49-21-102(11)(a). In order to qualify for long-term disability benefits under this standard, Petitioner must prove that she suffers from an “objective medical impairment” which prevents her from performing her “regular occupation.” Petitioner failed to meet this burden.

A. PETITIONER MAINTAINS THE BURDEN OF PROOF UNDER U.C.A. §49-11-613(4) TO SHOW SHE SUFFERS FROM AN “OBJECTIVE MEDICAL IMPAIRMENT” WHICH PREVENTS HER FROM PERFORMING HER REGULAR OCCUPATION.

The burden of proof rests squarely upon Petitioner to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that she suffers from an “objective medical impairment” which prevents her from performing her regular occupation. Petitioner failed to meet this burden.

Petitioner brought this action under U.C.A. §49-11-613(4) which states, “the moving party in any proceeding brought under this section shall bear the burden of proof.” Pursuant to the Utah Court of Appeals in Murphy,³ “the plain language of section

³ In Murphy, the Utah Court of Appeals upheld the decision of the Utah State Retirement Board’s denial of Petitioner’s request for permanent and total long-term disability benefits. The basis for Ms. Murphy’s claim for disability before the Board was that she was impaired due to fibromyalgia. In fact, Murphy’s treating physician, Dr. Bateman, is also Petitioner’s treating physician.

49-1-610(4)⁴ clearly imposes the burden of proof on (Petitioner) to demonstrate that she has a “total disability.”” Murphy v. State Retirement Board, 2004 Ut. App. 109, at *2.

Although the Board submitted documents and provided expert testimony that provided ample support for denying Petitioner’s request for long-term disability benefits, the Board need not submit any evidence in order to prevail. Yet in order for Petitioner to prevail she must prove that she suffers from an “objective medical impairment,” and due solely to this impairment, that she is unable to perform her “regular occupation.”

Petitioner did not meet her burden.

B. THE HEARING OFFICER REASONABLY DETERMINED THAT PETITIONER FAILED TO PROVE AN “OBJECTIVE MEDICAL IMPAIRMENT” THROUGH “ACCEPTED OBJECTIVE MEDICAL TESTS OR FINDINGS” UNDER U.C.A. § 49-21-102(6).

Because Petitioner failed to prove any “objective medical impairment” under U.C.A. § 49-21-102(6), the H.O. correctly found that Petitioner did not meet the statutory standard to receive long-term disability benefits. Under the standard of review, the Court should give substantial deference to the Board’s findings of fact, and will not overturn the Board’s decision if based on “substantial evidence.” See, Murphy v. State Retirement Board, 2004 Ut. App. 109 at *1. Similarly, in reviewing the Board’s conclusions of law, the Court should only reverse if the Board’s interpretation of law “exceeds the bounds of reasonableness and rationality.” King, 850 P.2d 1281 at 1286. This is particularly true when, as here, the Board is interpreting an agency specific statute. See, Morton, 814 P.2d

⁴ U.C.A. §49-1-610 was renumbered in 2002. It is now numbered as U.C.A. §49-11-613.

581 at 589.

Eligible employees qualify to receive disability benefits under the Board's Long-Term Disability Program ("LTD Program") when they meet the definition of "Total Disability" under U.C.A. § 49-21-102(11)(a), which states, "'Total disability' means, the complete inability, *due to objective medical impairment*, whether physical or mental, to engage in the eligible employee's regular occupation during the elimination period and the first 24 months of disability benefits." (Emphasis added). U.C.A. § 49-21-102(6) then defines "Objective Medical Impairment" as "an impairment resulting from an illness or injury which is diagnosed by a physician and *which is based on accepted objective medical tests or findings* rather than subjective complaints." U.C.A. §49-21-102(6). (Emphasis added). While Petitioner's brief points to no specific language in the Board's Order which she deems to be in error in regards to the law on "impairment", the relevant portion of the Board's Order regarding the issue of impairment are Findings of Fact paragraphs 7 and 8, and Conclusions of Law paragraphs 9, 11 and 12 which state:

7. Dr. Beales testified that he was not familiar with either the American Medical Association Guidelines to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment ("AMA Guidelines") or the Utah Impairment Guidelines. See, TR. 59:15-19, 60:8-10. Dr. Beales did not provide any other guidelines or standards that could be used in making his determination on Petitioner's disability.
8. Dr. Beales failed to provide Petitioner with an impairment rating using any accepted objective criteria, such as the AMA or Utah Impairment Guidelines. Impairment ratings are the standard used in the medical community to determine disability. See, TR. 60:1-7.

....

9. Petitioner failed to present any non-hearsay evidence proving she suffered from any “objective medical impairment” resulting from an injury or illness based on accepted medical tests or findings. Although Petitioner provided evidence of diagnoses, Petitioner failed to provide any evidence showing that she was objectively impaired due to these conditions.

....

11. Although it is not mandatory that a petitioner use the AMA Guidelines and/or the Utah Impairment Guidelines to prove impairment, a petitioner must prove “objective medical impairment” through “accepted objective medical tests or findings.” Since the AMA Guidelines and the Utah Impairment Guidelines are the standards currently used by the medical community to determine impairment, these are reasonable guidelines to be used to determine the level of impairment.
12. No evidence was presented by Petitioner to indicate that she qualifies for an objective impairment rating pursuant to the AMA Guidelines, the Utah Impairment Guidelines, or any other accepted objective criteria.

HR., at 382-386.

1. THE BOARD REASONABLY USED THE AMA AND UTAH IMPAIRMENT GUIDELINES IN REQUIRING PETITIONER TO SHOW AN “OBJECTIVE MEDICAL IMPAIRMENT.”

The Board’s Findings of Fact regarding impairment were supported by “substantial evidence”, and the Board’s Conclusions of Law requiring the use of the medically acceptable American Medical Association (“AMA”) Guidelines and Utah Impairment Guidelines were both reasonable and rational. In determining whether an eligible employee has an “objective medical impairment”, the H.O. must determine what “accepted medical tests or findings” are appropriate to determine impairment. In this case, as in other previous long-term disability cases, expert testimony was received which

states that the Utah Impairment Guidelines are the accepted medical standard used in the community to determine impairment. HT. 104:1-5 While an “impairment rating” is not required by the statute, an “objective medical impairment” using “accepted medical tests or findings” is required.

Although the Utah Impairment Guidelines were developed⁵ for use in Worker’s Compensation cases,⁶ the guidelines are not limited to such cases. As Dr. Knorpp testified, “[The Utah Impairment Guidelines are] used for issues of classifying disability for any worker . . . [The Utah Impairment Guidelines are] equally applicable for all jurisdictions.” HT. 104:6-14 Even still, the Board in its Order recognized that the AMA and Utah Impairment Guidelines are not statutory guidelines, and the Board is not bound by these guidelines. See, HR. at 386. However, even Petitioner recognizes (See, Appellant’s Brief at 25) that the Board must provide some objective basis for its findings. These Guidelines allow for such an objective basis.

Since the Guidelines are the accepted standard in the medical community for determining impairment, the Board was reasonable in requiring Petitioner to either prove an objective medical impairment under these guidelines, or provide evidence of some other medically accepted objective criteria in which to measure impairment. Petitioner

⁵ The Utah Impairment Guidelines are to be used in tandem with the AMA Guidelines to determine impairment. See, HR. at 372.

⁶ Petitioner provides no evidence or even suggests that the AMA Impairment Guidelines only have applicability to Worker’s Compensation cases.

argues for the first time in this appeal ⁷ that the Board should have used the American Association of Disability Evaluating Physicians (“AADEP”) and the Social Security Administration (“SSA”) “guidelines” as medically accepted criteria to determine impairment. See, Appellant’s Brief at 29. However, the Board received no evidence that these “guidelines”⁸ are “medically acceptable.” One would expect that in order to adopt Petitioner’s alleged criteria, some smidgen of medical testimony would have to be received supporting the use of this criteria as medically acceptable. That is why the Board was correct in focusing on Petitioner’s expert witness in determining that “*Dr. Beales* did not provide any other guidelines or standards that could be used in making his determination on Petitioner’s disability[,]” and “*Dr. Beales* failed to provide Petitioner with an impairment rating using any accepted objective criteria” HR. at 383. (Emphasis added.)

Because Petitioner failed to prove any objective medical impairment under the

⁷ This is the first time Petitioner has presented this argument, typically in order to preserve an issue for appeal the issue must be presented to the prior trier of fact so that it may have an opportunity to rule on the issue.

⁸ AADEP and SSA do not really provide guidelines for determining impairment. The irony of Petitioner pointing to the AADEP “guidelines” is that even under this standard, Petitioner would not qualify for any “objective medical impairment.” The AADEP paper submitted by Petitioner states, “Must use AMA Guidelines.” In contrast, SSA does not use any medically acceptable “guidelines” but instead relies on the common law interpretation of the statutory definition of “medically determinable impairment” as its standard. Since the Utah Legislature in 2002 changed the applicable definition for the LTD Program from “medically determinable impairment” to “objective medical impairment”, presumably the Legislature did not want the LTD Program to use the SSA common law as persuasive authority.

AMA or Utah Impairment Guidelines, and because Petitioner provided no other medically acceptable objective basis for measuring impairment, the Board's conclusion that the AMA and Utah Guidelines "are reasonable guidelines to be used to determine the level of impairment" was correct and reasonable.

C. THE BOARD CORRECTLY APPLIED THE UTAH ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT HEARSAY RULES, AND CORRECTLY FOUND NO NON-HEARSAY EVIDENCE OF AN "OBJECTIVE MEDICAL IMPAIRMENT" UNDER THE AMA OR UTAH IMPAIRMENT GUIDELINES.

The Board's Conclusion of Law paragraph 9 correctly applied and interpreted the Utah Administrative Procedures Act ("UAPA") hearsay rules in finding, "Petitioner failed to present any non-hearsay evidence proving she suffered from any 'objective medical impairment' resulting from an injury or illness based on accepted medical tests or findings. Although Petitioner provided evidence of diagnoses, Petitioner failed to provide any evidence showing that she was objectively impaired due to these conditions." HR. at 386. In addition, the Board's conclusion that Petitioner has no "objective medical impairment" was reasonable. See, Id.

1. PETITIONER'S MEDICAL RECORDS CONSISTING OF OPINIONS REGARDING IMPAIRMENT AND DISABILITY ARE HEARSAY.

Any out of court "statement . . . offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted" is hearsay pursuant to the Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 801(c). Statements from medical professions which opine on impairment or disability, even if contained within medical records are hearsay. Petitioner attempts to argue that her medical records are an

exception to the hearsay rules. See, Appellant's Brief, at 27. In support of this argument Petitioner points to Utah Rules of Evidence 803(4) which states,

Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonable pertinent to diagnosis and treatment.

(emphasis added.) This exception to the hearsay rule clearly provides that only, “statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment,” are an exception to hearsay. This rule does not make any mention regarding opinions of medical experts regarding impairment or disability.

In addition, nothing in the hearing record suggests that the H.O. failed to consider Petitioner's medical records regarding her diagnosis or treatment.⁹ However, the H.O. was correct in determining that the opinions regarding impairment and disability in Petitioner's records were hearsay. Therefore, the exception to hearsay in URE 803(4) does not apply to Petitioner's submitted opinions regarding impairment and disability, these opinions are clearly hearsay.

2. PETITIONER FAILED TO PROVE ANY “OBJECTIVE MEDICAL IMPAIRMENT” BECAUSE EITHER HER DIAGNOSES RESULTED FROM HER SUBJECTIVE COMPLAINTS RATHER THAN MEDICAL TESTS OR FINDINGS, OR HER DIAGNOSES DO NOT CAUSE IMPAIRMENT.

An “objective medical impairment” cannot be founded on subjective complaints or

⁹ As far as the Board can determine, no dispute exists between the parties that hearsay is admissible in administrative hearings under UAPA. However, hearsay evidence cannot be the sole basis for a finding of fact. See, Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-10(3).

mild diagnoses. Petitioner’s allegations of “impairment” are really nothing more than evidence of diagnoses. The Board recognized this and stated, “Although Petitioner provided evidence of diagnoses, Petitioner failed to provide any evidence showing that she was objectively impaired due to these conditions.” HR. at 385. A diagnosis is not an objective medical impairment. The Petitioner must prove that her diagnoses of illness or injury prevents her from performing some function. Petitioner failed to do this.

Petitioner points to some alleged “impairments”, none of which are truly impairments. See, Appellant’s Brief at 24. First, Petitioner argues that she suffers from the diagnoses of “fibromyalgia syndrome (FMS), [and] chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) . . .” See, Id. Neither of these diagnoses constitutes an objective medical impairment because they are based on Petitioner’s subjective complaints rather than accepted objective medical tests or findings. Id. In addition to these diagnoses, Petitioner alleges she is “impaired” by sleep apnea, DDD, mild neuropathy, and cognitive problems. See, Id., at 30. These diagnoses also do not qualify for an “objective medical impairment” because they were not proven to functionally “impair” Petitioner in any way from performing her regular occupation.

a. FMS AND CFS ARE NOT RATABLE IMPAIRMENTS.

Neither FMS nor CFS qualify as a ratable diagnoses under the AMA or the Utah Guidelines. The Utah Impairment Guides state:

The diagnoses of fibromyalgia, CFS, and myofascial pain syndromes are based on an individual’s report of widespread **subjective pain** and reports of tenderness during physical

examination. Despite extensive research, no specific underlying biological abnormality has been discovered to explain the reports of these people. In that the medical community has not achieved consensus on how to construe such condition, ***these conditions are not to be rated.*** (Emphasis added.)

HR, at 224.

Therefore, pursuant to accepted guidelines in the Utah medical community the diagnoses of FMS and CFS are not ratable diagnoses. This explanation of “impairment” for CFS and FMS excludes any finding of an “objective medical impairment” under Title 49 because they are based on symptoms of self-reported pain and fatigue. Under U.C.A. §49-21-102(6), an “objective medical impairment” must be based on “accepted objective medical tests or findings rather than subjective complaints.” Similar to the Utah Impairment Guidelines, the American Academy of Disability Evaluating Physicians (“AADEP”) defines FMS as, “not a discrete disorder, nor a disease, but a group of symptoms and physical findings that occur together frequently- a syndrome.” HR, at 183. AADEP also states, “the key feature of the potential common fibromyalgia impairments is that they are all based on self report . . . Just as a diagnosis of fibromyalgia is not necessary in order for there to be a finding of impairment, neither is a diagnosis or fibromyalgia sufficient for determination of impairment.” Id. at 184.

The U.S. 9th Circuit Court of Appeals has stated, “. . . fibromyalgia’s cause or causes are unknown, there is no cure, and, of greatest importance to disability law, its symptoms are entirely subjective.” Jordan v. Northrop Grumman Corp. Welfare Benefit Plan, 370 F.3d 869, 872 (9th Cir. 2004). The court stated, “. . . [T]he Mayo Clinic states

that the syndrome is neither ‘progressive’ nor ‘crippling,’ the symptoms can be worse at some times than others.” Id., at 872, n.6 and n.7. Finally, the 9th Circuit confirmed that “objective tests are administered to rule out other diseases, but not establish the presence or absence of fibromyalgia.” Id., at n.8. The National Center for Infectious Diseases has defined CFS “*as self-reported* persistent or relapsing fatigue of 6 or more consecutive months.” Id. (Petitioner’s Hearing Exhibit B-17, at 5) (Emphasis added.). These definitions of FMS and CFS, exclude any finding of an “objective medical impairment” due to FMS and CFS because they are based on findings of symptoms and self-reported pain. An “objective medical impairment” must be based on accepted objective medical tests or findings rather than subjective complaints. Therefore, Petitioner claims of impairment under the diagnoses for FMS and CFS do not qualify as an “objective medical impairment” under Title 49.

Even one of Petitioner’s own physicians fails to objectify an impairment due to FMS and CFS. Dr. Richard Call who originally diagnosed Petitioner with FMS states, “Linda has Fibromyalgia Syndrome. In as much as it is for the most part subjectively defined, it is very difficult to dictate disease course or disability in as much as the disability is variable. An objective basis of disability determinations is extremely difficult.” Id. (Petitioner’s Hearing Exhibit B-13, at 146). Dr. Beales, Petitioner’s expert witness, was questioned regarding this statement from Dr. Call, and he answered that he generally agrees with this statement. TR. 360: 3-9. Additionally, Dr. Beales testified that he collaborated with Dr. Call on many occasions, and he is well acquainted with FMS.

TR. 360 18-23. Dr. Beales acknowledges that he agrees with another physician he considers an expert in working with FMS, that it is a disease which is subjectively defined, and any type of disability determination is difficult. Even though Dr. Beales labels Petitioner as “disabled,” he never objectively defined a “medical impairment” which was not based solely on Petitioner’s self reported symptoms. Additionally, Dr. Beales failed to give Petitioner any type of impairment rating, or suggest any other way to objectively define her alleged impairment or disability.

Dr. Beales testified that the major most disabling symptoms of FMS and CFS are fatigue and muscle pain, neither of which can be objectively verified or measured. TR. 21:17-18, 22: 7, 18-23. In reference to objectively measuring pain and fatigue, Dr. Beales testified that “there’s no good objective measurement of pain, of fatigue . . .” TR. 360:12-13. When Dr. Beales was questioned about what objective criteria or medical evidence he used to establish that Petitioner has chronic pain, he answered that he used the medical history from Petitioner and tested her for tender points. TR. 55:15-21. Dr. Beales stated that he could tell that Petitioner was in pain when examining Petitioner if her response to pushing on the tender points was that she was in pain or that she hurts. TR. 55:22-23, 56: 10-13. In reality, Dr. Beales could only report Petitioners reported reactions of pain and could not objectify the pain itself.

When Dr. Beales was questioned about what objective criteria or medical evidence he used to establish that Petitioner has CFS he answered, “mostly her story and the patterns she gave . . .” TR. 56: 17-19. Finally, when Counsel asked, “so it was based on

her reported symptoms of fatigue that you established that; is that right?” Dr. Beales answered, “Yes.” TR. 57:4-6. Thus, the testimony of Dr. Beales plainly shows that he cannot objectively measure the two worst symptoms that Petitioner suffers from, which are also two of the main symptoms of FMS and CFS, cannot be objectively measured. These symptoms are based solely on Petitioner’s statements. As such, Petitioner’s claim of objective medical impairment for FMS and CFS fails to meet the statutory standard.

No accepted medical test exists to objectively verify FMS or CFS. The diagnosis must be based upon Petitioner’s statements that she is in pain and suffers from fatigue. Petitioner failed to provide and cannot provide any medically acceptable clinical and laboratory diagnostic techniques to support claims that she suffers from an objective medical impairment due to FMS and CFS. As such, Petitioner does not qualify for an objective medical impairment and long-term disability benefits must be denied.

In sum, FMS and CFS, by their very definition, do not meet the criteria of an “objective medical impairment” under Utah law. Neither the medically accepted AMA Guidelines nor Utah Impairment Guidelines give an impairment rating for FMS and CFS. Petitioner failed to show that there are other guidelines to use as a basis for determining impairment based upon a diagnosis of FMS and CFS. Thus, Petitioner has failed to show that she suffers from an objective medical impairment due to FMS or CFS.

b. PETITIONER’S DIAGNOSES OF SLEEP APNEA, DEGENERATIVE DISC DISEASE (DDD), NEUROPATHY AND COGNITIVE PROBLEMS DO NOT SHOW AN OBJECTIVE MEDICAL IMPAIRMENT.

Petitioner also argues that she suffers from the diagnoses of severe sleep apnea,

degenerative disc disease (DDD), neuropathy and cognitive problems. See, Appellant's Brief, at 30. However, she failed to prove an objective medical impairment due to these diagnoses or a combination thereof. Petitioner provided no evidence showing that due to these conditions she is even impaired, let alone that these impairments render her disabled.

When Dr. Beales was questioned regarding whether Petitioner is disabled due to sleep apnea he answered, "Well, I don't think sleep apnea causes disability, per se." TR. 350:21-25. Additionally, Petitioner provides the following from her treating physician, Dr. Lucinda Bateman, "The abnormalities of sleep architecture and respiration, as discussed above, would account for clinical symptoms such as nonrestful sleep, daytime fatigue, and excessive daytime sleepiness." Appellant's Brief, at 32. However, Dr. Bateman does not provide for a disability based on this conclusion. Dr. Bateman is merely stating that Petitioner suffers from fatigue and sleepiness. Therefore, based on Petitioner's own witness's testimony and treating physician's conclusions, she cannot prove she suffers from an objective medical impairment based on her diagnoses of sleep apnea.

Dr. Elaine Clark performed a neuropsychological evaluation on Petitioner per the Board's request on February 20, 2003. See, HR. at 221 (Petitioner's Hearing Exhibit B-11). In her report Dr. Clark states,

. . . there is no evidence that she (Petitioner) would not be able to perform her job duties as a result of cognitive problems. Although there is evidence of significant visual memory problems, and some mild verbal learning and

memory problems, there is no reason to believe that she could not do her work based on cognitive deficits alone. In fact, *this evaluation failed to provide any evidence that would suggest Mrs. Hilton is disabled from work for psychological or cognitive reasons.*

Id., at 135-136. (emphasis added.)

Therefore, the cognitive test performed on Petitioner by Dr. Clark found that there is no reason why she could not work based on cognitive problems.

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